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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 15-cv-23026-GAYLES

RIZVAN ZIA, on behalf of himself and
all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,

V.
CITIMORTGAGE, INC., and

CITIBANK, N.A.,
Defendants.

ORDER

THIS CAUSE comes before the Cowh Defendants CitiMortgagénc. (“CitiMortgage”),
and Citibank, N.A.’s (“Citibank”Motion Dismiss [ECF No. 49]. TdhDefendants urge this Court
to dismiss this case for lack sfibject matter jurisdiction, argg that, under the recent Supreme
Court decision oBpokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S. Ct. 1540 (2016), Zia ceot establish that he has
standing to sue as reged by Article Ill of the U.S. Corgution. The Courhas reviewed the
Complaint, the briefs and supplemental filingsofinsel, and the applicable law and is otherwise
fully advised in the premises. For the reasonsftiimw, the motion to dismiss shall be granted.
l. BACKGROUND

According to the allegations in the Complaitite Plaintiff, Rizvan Zia, alleges that he
obtained a mortgage on his progdocated at 4 Martine Avenu&Vhite Plains, New York (the
“Property”), from CitiMortgage (te “First Mortgage”). Compl] 12. He subsequently obtained a
Home Equity Line of Credit on the sameoperty from Citibank (the “Second Mortgagel{.

1 13. On July 30, 2013, Zia sold the Property and tisegroceeds from the sale to satisfy all

principal, interest, and other amounts due to the Defendants on both mortda§iest. The
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satisfaction-of-mortgage documefts the First Mortgagavere recorded in the Westchester County,
New York, Clerk’s Office orOctober 3, 2013 (sixty-five days after July 30, 201@)11 16-17.
The satisfaction-of-mortgage documtefor the Second Mortgage weeeorded in the Westchester
County Clerk’s Office on September 18, 2fifly days after July 30, 2013)d. 11 18-19.

Zia filed the instant prospective cksaction on August 12, 2018]leging that the
Defendants’ failure to timely present certificatdslischarge for his mortgages violates two pro-
visions of New York statutory law: Real dfrerty Actions and Proceedings Law (“RPAPL”)
§ 1921 and Real Property Law (“RPL”) § 275. Zegeks statutory damages under those statutes.
He also purports to bring suit on behalf of a puéaclass and “Sub-Classf similarly situated
New York mortgagors whose satisfaction of rgage documents alleggdivere not recorded
within 30 days of the date their mgaiges were paid off. Compl. 1 22-23.

On March 22, 2016, this Court stayed thigterapending the U.S. Supreme Court’s deci-
sion inSpokepwhich granted certiorari on the questiori[eflnether Congress may confer Article
lll standing upon a plaintiff who suffers no concream, and who therefore could not otherwise
invoke the jurisdiction of a federal court, by laatizing a private right ofction based on a bare
violation of a federal stute.” Pet. for Writ of Certiorari, at §pokep136 S. Ct. 1540 (No. 13-
1339), 2014 WL 1802228, at *.he Supreme Court issued dscision on Mg 16, 2016, and
the Defendants now move to dismiss the Compfamlack of subject matter jurisdiction, arguing
that Zia does not have standing to sue.

. LEGAL STANDARD

“[T]he doctrine of standing seeg to identify those disputes which are appropriately re-
solved through the judicial proces$Vhitmore v. Arkansagl95 U.S. 149, 155 (1990). As the party
invoking federal jurisdiction, Ziadars the burden of demonstratih@t he has standing to sue.

FW/PBS, Inc. v. Dallgs493 U.S. 215, 231 (1990). The “irreducible constitutional minimum of



standing” requires an “injury in fact” that oth “concrete and particularized,” and “actual or
imminent, not conjectural or hypotheticaLtjan v. Defs. of Wildlife504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992)
(citations and internal quotationarks omitted). A plaintiff must s& demonstrate “a causal con-
nection between the injury and the conduct compthof,” and “a likelihood that a court ruling
in [the plaintiff's] favorwould remedy [his] injury.1d. As standing is a threshold determinant,
the plaintiff must “clearly . . . algge facts demonstrating” standirwyarth v. Seldin422 U.S. 490,
518 (1975). And given that this case is brougha @sitative class actiof{{]Jhat a suit may be a
class action . . . adds nothing to the questiostariding, for even named plaintiffs who represent
a class ‘must allege anti@w that they personally have been injured, not that injury has been
suffered by other, unidentified mders of the class to which thbglong and whic they purport
to represent.”Simon v. E. Ky. Welfare Rights Qrd26 U.S. 26, 40 B0 (1976) (quoting/Varth,
422 U.S. ab02).
1. DISCUSSION

A. The Spokeo Decision

Spokednvolved alleged violations of the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA"),
15 U.S.C. § 168&t seqA purpose of the FCRA i® guarantee “fair and accurate credit reporting.”
Id. 8 1681(a)(1). To that end, the statute impas®sgeral requirementoncerning the creation
and use of consumer reports, including that consumer reporting agencies must “follow reasonable
procedures to assure maximum possible accurathyeahformation” contained within consumer
reports,id. 8 1681e(b); notify providers and users ohsumer information of their responsibilities
under the Actid. § 1681e(d); limit the circumstancesvilnich those agencies provide consumer
reports “for empyment purposesitl. 8 1681b(b)(1); and prade free annual reportsl. 8 1681j(a).
If a consumer reporting agencyllilly fails to comply with ay of the Act’s requirements, an

individual may recover either actual damages atustry damages of $100 to $1,000 per violation,



attorneys’ fees and costs, and possibly punitive dambabé&s1681n(a).

Spokeo itself was alleged to qualify as arfsumer reporting agency” under the FCRA.
The Supreme Court described the circumstagtasg rise to the plaintiff's complaint:

Spokeo operates a “people search engihari individual visits Spokeo’s Web site

and inputs a person’s namepl@one number, or an e-mailldress, Spokeo conducts

a computerized search in a wide variet databases and provides information

about the subject of theaeh. Spokeo performed such a search for information

about Robins, and some of the inforroatit gathered and then disseminated was

incorrect. When Robins learned of thésaccuracies, he fitka complaint on his
own behalf and on behalf of a cladssimilarly situated individuals.

Spokep136 S. Ct. at 1544. In hismoplaint, Robins alleged thap8keo willfully failed to comply
with the FCRA requirements listed abolek.at 1546.

The Supreme Court explained that the caseapiiynconcerned the injury-in-fact require-
ment, which is “a constitutional requirement, and ‘[iJt is settled that Congress cannot erase Article
lII's standing requirements by statutorily grantitige right to sue to a plaintiff who would not
otherwise have standing.ltl. at 1547-48 (quotingRaines v. Byrd521 U.S. 811, 820 n.3 (1997)).
The injury-in-fact requirement reqes that an injury be “particuiaed,” in that it “must affect
the plaintiff in a personalmal individual way,” but that it also be “concretéd’ at 1548 (quoting
Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 n.1). In the decision belove, Binth Circuit had concluded that Robins’
complaint alleged a concrete injury besatune “allege[d] that Spokeo violate statutory rights,
not just the statutory rights of other people,tdl decause “Robins’s personal interests in the han-
dling of his creditinformation arandividualized rather than collective.” Id. (emphasis in original).

In the Supreme Court’s view, tvever, the Ninth Circuit’'s angsis “elided” the distinction
between the two requirements., “[b]Joth of those observationsoncern particularization, not
concreteness.ld. The Court continued, “A ‘concrete’ injury must bae’ facto; that is, it must
actually exist. . . . When we have used thged/e ‘concrete,” we hae meant to convey the

usual meaning of the term+¥eal,” and not ‘abstract.’1d. (citations omitted).



The Court noted that “[c]oncrete’ is not, hewer, necessarily synonyus with ‘tangible.”
Id. at 1549. While “Congress is weibsitioned to identify intangle harms that meet minimum
Article 11l requirements,” its “role in identifyingind elevating intangible harms does not mean
that a plaintiff automatically satisfies the injurnyfact requirement whenever a statute grants a
person a statutory right and purpotsauthorize that person sue to vindicate that rightJd.
Standing under Article Il “requires a concrete ngjeven in the context of a statutory violation.”
Id. And because a concrete injunust “actually exist” and mudte “real,” not “abstract,id. at
1548, the Court explained that a plaintiff “could not, for example, allege a bare procedural viola-
tion, divorced from any concrete harm, and satiséy/injury-in-fact requirement of Article III.”
Id. at 1549 (citingSummers v. Earth Is. InsB55 U.S. 488, 496 (2009)D]eprivation of a pro-
cedural right without some concrateerest that isféected by the deprivain . . . is insufficient
to create Article Ill standing.”)). That said, the Ctawcognized that “the risk of real harm” could
“satisfy the requirement of concreteness” and ‘ttinegt violation of a proedural right granted by
statute can be sufficient in some circumstances to constitute injury inléact.”

Applying that analysis to the facbf the case, the Court ruled:

On the one hand, Congress plainly soughtuid the dissemination of false infor-

mation by adopting procedures designed to decrease that risk. On the other hand,

Robins cannot satisfy the demands ofiée Il by alleging a bare procedural

violation. A violation of onef the FCRA's procedural geirements may result in

no harm. For example, even if a consumeporting agency fails to provide the

required notice to a usef the agency’s consumerfarmation, that information

regardless may be entirely accurateaditition, not all inaccuracies cause harm

or present any material risk of harm. Axample that comes readily to mind is an

incorrect zip code. It is difficult to image how the dissemination of an incorrect
zip code, without more, could work any concrete harm. . . .

... [T]he Ninth Circuit . . . did not adess the question framéy our discussion,
namely, whether the particular proceduallations alleged in this case entail a
degree of risk sufficient to eet the concreteness requirement.

Id. at 1550. The Court took no positias to whether Robins had,antuality, adequately alleged

an injury in fact.



B. The Plaintiff Has Not Sufficiently Alleged Standing

In the months sincBpokeowvas decided, federal court©and the country have created a
substantial and growing body of law interpreting ttase, as reflected in the several notices of
supplemental authority filed by both parties sepaftate and subsequent to their briefs on the
motion to dismiss. [ECF Nos. 52, 55, 58, 60, BR, 72, & 75-77]. The Court has reviewed these
and other decisions andgfiter careful consideration, concludeattidia has failed to allege a con-
crete injury that estabhes Article Il standing.

A recent decision by thg.S. Court of Appeals fahe Eighth CircuitBraitberg v. Charter
Communications, Inc— F.3d —, 2016 WL 4698283t8Cir. Sept. 8, 2016), is persuasive on this
issue. InBraitberg the plaintiff signed up for cable serviosgh the defendant cable company in
2007. As a prerequisite to activating those sesjithe company required the plaintiff to provide
personally identifiablenformation, such as his addresdephone number, angbcial security
number. The plaintiff cancelledscable services i8010. In 2013the plaintiff contacted the
defendant company and confirmed that the compaayretained all of the personally identifiable
information he had provided in 2007. He thiged suit under a secth of the Cable Communica-
tions Privacy Act, 47 U.&. 8§ 551(e), which provides that “[a] cable operator shall destroy person-
ally identifiable information if the informatiois no longer necessary for the purpose for which it
was collected and there are no pending requesisders for access to such information [by the
subscriber] or pursuant to a court order.” Therpitiialleged that the company’s retention of his
information years after it was no longer needegrtavide services, collect payments, or satisfy
its tax, accounting, or other legal obligations, violdtedrights and the rightof a putative class
of the defendant company’s former cable sendabscribers under the Act. The plaintiff argued
that a violation of that statutory right constitutedrgary in fact sufficient, on its own, to establish

Article 11l standing and that hdid not need to allege or shdlactual injury” arising from the



retention of his personal information.

The Eighth Circuit disagreed. It firfboked to two former decisionslammer v. Sam’s
East, Inc, 754 F.3d 492, 4989 (8th Cir. 2014), an€harvat v. Mutual First Federal Credit
Union, 725 F.3d 819, 822 (8th Ci2013), which “seemed to accept th[e] view” the plaintiff
espoused. IiHammer for example, the court, citing bo@harvatandWarth, “declared that ‘the
actual-injury requirement may be satisfemllely by the invasion of a legaight that Congress
created.” Braitberg, 2016 WL 4698283, a# (quotingHammer 754 F.3d att98). ButSpokep
the court reasoned, “rejected this absolute view” and supersedelddutherandCharvat The
court then looked to the languageSpokeahat acknowledged Cong® ability “to identify
intangible harms that meet minimum Article tdquirements,” but “empls&ed that ‘Congress’
role in identifying and elevating intangible hagmoes not mean that a plaintiff automatically
satisfies the injury-in-fact requirement whenegestatute grants a persa statutory right and
purports to authorize #t person to sue tandicate that right.”Braitberg 2016 WL 4698283, at
*4 (quotingSpokep136 S. Ct. at 1549). Followirgpokepthe Eighth Circuit concluded that the
plaintiff's complaint asserted “a bare procedwialation, divorced from any concrete harrd’
(quotingSpokep136 S. Ct. at 1549He had alleged only that the cable company violated its duty
to destroy personally identifiable information Btaining that information longer than it should
have. He had not alleged thaetbompany disclosed that inforrwat to a thirdparty, that any
outside party accessed that information, or thatcompany used the information in any way
during the disputed period of time. And he hadnitified “no material sk of harm from the
retention.”ld. Because the plaintiff had failed to allege a concrete harm, he lacked Article IlI
standing.

The Court finds the Eighth Circuit’s reasoningBraitberg persuasive anddopts that

reasoning here in holding that Zia has not allegedrerete harm sufficient to establish Article



Il standing. Zia alleges the following ms Complaint, in pertinent part:

27. CitiMortgage systematically fait® timely present certificates of
discharge, as required by N.Y. Real Prop Acts. Law § 1921. . ..

28. Here, CitiMortgage failed to present, or arrange for presentment, a
certificate of discharge for recordingthin 30 days of the date upon which the
full amount of principle [sic] and interegtas paid on the [| Mortgage . . . .

29. By reason of the foregoing, CitiMgage has violated N.Y. Real
Prop. Acts. Law 8§ 1921 and liable to Plaintiff and the other members of the
Class for the statutory damages that are due. . . .

32. Defendants systematically fail to timely present certificates of dis-
charge, as required by N.Y. Real Prop Law 8§ 275. . ..

33. Here, Defendants failed to pees or arrange fopresentment a
certificate of discharge for recordingthin 30 days of the date upon which the
full amount of principle [sic] and intesewas paid on the mortgages . . . .

34. By reason of the foregoing, Deflants have violated N.Y. Real
Prop. Law 8§ 275 and are liable Rtaintiff and the othemembers of the Class for
the statutory damages that are due.

Compl. 111 27-29, 32-34. Undioth counts, Zia states that the Defendants (or, in the case of Count
I, CitiMortgage only) systematically fail to preseheé certificate®f discharge asequired by the
statutes; states that the Defenddatked to present the speciftertificates ofdischarge for the
mortgages at issue in this case; and concludes that, as a result, the Defendants violated the respec-
tive statutes. There are no allegations here ofigayy other than bare procedural violations—
statuteX requiresY; Defendants did not d¥; thus, Defendants violated stataewhich caused
injury to the Plaintiff. He alleges only thatetibefendants waited too long before filing the satis-
faction of mortgage documents. He makes no dilegafor example, that there existed a cloud on
the title to his property as a resaftthe Defendants’ faire to timely file tlese documents or that

he was in any other wayrohibited or deterred from transfimg the property or obtaining any
additional lien.Cf. Jaffe v. Bank of America, N,A— F. Supp. 3d —, @16 WL 3944753, at *4
(S.D.N.Y. July 15, 2016) (in a cas®olving alleged violations dRPAPL § 192land RPL § 275,

finding that that the plaintiffead established aoncrete injury because thalfeged that the defend-



ant’s failure to timely file a nmtgage satisfaction notice “created a ‘real risk of harm’ by clouding
the titles to their respective pragies”). He has identified no tangible or intangible harm that he
suffered, other than the fact that the delayetording occurred; and he has identified no “material
risk of harm” from the delayBraitberg 2016 WL 4698283, at *4—simply the delay itself.
Another recently decided case that supportedirfg that Zia has failed to allege a concrete
injury is Hancock v. UrbarOuftfitters, Inc, — F.3d —, 2016 WL 3996710 (D. Cir. July 26,
2016). There, two plaintiffs magrirchases with credit cards atfeient clothing sires. As part
of those credit card transactions, the cashiergdaskeh plaintiff for her pi code, and each plain-
tiff provided it. The plaintiffs thefiiled suit, alleging that those zgode requests violated two D.C.
consumer protection laws. The D.C. Circuit hildt the plaintiffdid not have standing:
The complaint here does not get out of thetistaugate. It fails to allege that [either
plaintiff] suffered any cognizable injurgs a result of the zip code disclosures.
Indeed, at oral argument [plaintiffs’] counsel candidly admitted that “the only
injury . . . that the nameplaintiffs suffered was thewere asked for a zip code

when . . . [underihe law they should ndvave been.” In othhevords, they assert
only a bare violation ahe requirements of D.C. lawihe course aheir purchases.

Id. at *2 (citation omitted) The plaintiffs, likeZia here, relied olVarth in which the Supreme
Court stated that “[tlhactual or threatened injury required by Art. Il may exist solely by virtue
of statutes creating legal rights, the invasidrwhich creates standing.” 422 U.S. at 500 (cita-
tions and internal quotation marks omittesBe alsdl.” Opp’n at 12. Buthose plaintiffs, like Zia,
“vastly overread that case,” becatise Supreme Court “has beeranl that the legislature ‘cannot
erase Atrticle IlI's standing req@ments by statutorily grantingetright to sue a plaintiff who
would not otherwise have stiing’ under Atrticle 1lIl.” Hancock 2016 WL 3996710at *3 (quoting
Spokep136 S. Ct. at 147-48). “Insteadan asserted injury to everstatutorily conferred right
must actually exist . . . Itl. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, Zia has advanced a “naked assertibat the satisfaction-of-mortgage documents



for the two mortgages were filed beyond the that@y time period “without any concrete conse-
guence.”ld. Such an assertion does not amount torcrete injury, as contemplated $gokeo
(and Article 11l generally), and is thewk insufficient to confer standing.

x  x %

Zia contends that “[i]t is black letter law th@bngress, or in thisase a state legislature,
can create new statutory rights the deprivatiombich creates a condeeinjury for standing
purposes” and argues th&pokeadid not change this rule.” PL.@pp’n at 3. He also states that
the Supreme Court iBpokedunanimously reaffirmed a coreipciple: Legislatures may define
the substantive duties members of society owe etdwr, and the violatioof such duties will
establish injury in fact.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 4. Theestatements are now plainly false. The thrust of
Zia’s argument is that becaus®e New York State Legislature cted a statutory right, that right
per se confers standing. But whatever the vracithis principle may have been priorSpokeo
the principle has been rendered a nullity in its wake. “[T]he deprivation of a right created by statute
must be accompanied by ‘some concrete interastishaffected by the gevation™; a holding
that the statutory violation is alone sufficientetstablish standing would impermissibly “conflat[e]
the concepts of statutory and constitutional standingg’v. Verizon Commc'ns, Ine- F.3d —,
2016 WL 4926159, at *1-2 (5th Cir. Sept. PB16) (alteration imriginal) (quotingSpokep136

S. Ct. at 1549).

1 To the extent that Zia argues thag tatutes’ history or the judgment of the New York Legislature mandate the

finding that his alleged injury is concrete, those arguments fail.

In Spokeopthe Supreme Court said, “[I]t is instructive to consider whether an alleged intangible harm has a close
relationship to a harm that has traditionally been regaaggntoviding a basis for a lawsuit in English or American
courts.” 136 S. Ct. at 1548iting Vt. Agency of Natural Res. Wnited States ex rel. Steveb29 U.S. 765, 773-78
(2000);Coleman v. Miller307 U.S. 433, 460 (1939) (opinion of Frankfurter, J.). Zia argues that “the right to seek a
remedy in New York courts for mortgagors who do not tinfildymortgage satisfactions has a long and illustrious
history” and that “[tihe amendments to RPAPL § 1921 RRt § 275 merely codified the injury (which existed at
common law and which provided a basis for a lawsuit in New York courts) resulting from an untimely recorded
satisfaction of mortgage.” Pl.’s Opp’n at 16-17. But eafctihe cases Zia cites in support of this “long and illus-
trious history” involves a cause of action arising fromwinstances where a satisfaction of mortgage had not been
recordednot where, as here, the filing of thetiséaction had been briefly delayed.

10



Zia invokes an unpublished, pdspokecEleventh Circuit decisiorChurch v. Accretive
Health, Inc, — F. App’x —, 2016 WL 3611543 (11th Ciduly 6, 2016) (per curiam), arguing
that it mandates the conclusion thathas sufficiently alleged an injuryn fact. In that case, the
plaintiff brought a clainunder the Fair Debt Colleoh Practices Act (“FDCR’), 15 U.S.C. 8 1692
et seq. based on the defendant’s allddailure to provide disclosures in a debt collection letter.
A panel of the Eleventh Circuit concluded that gaintiff had standing to sue, as “Congress pro-
vided [the plaintiff] with a substantive right teceive certain disclosures [under the FDCPA] and
[the plaintiff] has alleged that [the defendant] violated that substantive righat *3 n.2.

Churchis one of many cases invahg so-called “informationadtanding,” wiere a plain-
tiff has standing because he setekenforce a statutory disclosure requirement. Other informational
standing cases includ&EC v. Akins524 U.S. 11, 21-22, 26 (1998), aRdblic Citizen v. U.S.
Department of Justicel91 U.S. 440, 445-47, 449-50 (1989)which the Supreme Court found
that plaintiffs had informational standing whereytlsued over whether certain organizations were
subject to disclosure requirements in the Fadelection Campaign Act and the Federal Advisory
Committee Act, respectively. And iHavens Realty Corp. v. Colematb5 U.S. 363, 373-75

(1982), the plaintiffs sought to compel compliandthwtatutory provisions that guaranteed a right

This Court has considered the statutes’ histories andtfiatithe statement upon which Zia relies—that “the penal-

ties provided for in RPAPL § 1921(a) and RPL § 275(1) do not enlarge the common-law cause of action for satis-
faction of a mortgage or grant additional remedies for dgagees’ failure to satisfy a mortgage,” Pl.’s Opp’n at

17 (quotingWhittenburg v. Bank of Am., N,Alo. 14-0947, 2015 WL 2330307, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 24, 2015))—

is inaccurate. Prior to the current versof the statutes (both amende®@05), the common Vacause of action

for satisfaction of a mortgage granted only the remedieomortgage’s satisfaction and only if the mortgagee had
willfully and unjustifiably refused to satisfy the mgatge. The amendments by the New York Legislatiaie

enlarge the common law cause of action by purporting to grant a plaintiff the right to sulel&yria satisfaction,

even if the mortgage had been satisfied at the time the suit is brought. These amendments did not “merely codif[y]
the injury which existed at common law,” Pl.’s Opp’n at 17 (internal punctuation omitted), but rather created a new
injury out of whole cloth. For these reasons, the Court declines to adopt the decision—upon which Zia also relies—
in Bellino v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A- F. Supp. 3d —, 2016 WL 5173392 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 21, 2016), a case
involving the same statutory provisions here, in which the court concluded that thesstagibry did support a

finding that the plaintiff's injury was concrete. In kiag that finding, the court conflates clouded title, whigh

a harm traditionally recognized at common law, and th&ydsomplained of here, which this Court has already
found is not.

Therefore, the statute’s history does not support a finding that a violation of RPAPL § 1921(a) or RPL § 275(1)
results in concrete harm sufficient to confer standing.

11



to receive information in a patlar form. By contrast, ifkriends of Animals v. Jewel— F.3d

—, 2016 WL 3854010, at *4-5 (D.C. Ciduly 15, 2016), the D.C. Riuit held thathe plaintiff

did not have informational standing, becausestaéutory provision the gintiff was attempting

to enforce was merely a deadlirequirement that did not olditg the defendant to actuatlysclose

any information. The court held, basedSpokeothat the bare violation of the statute was not a
concrete and particularized injusyfficient to confer standingdgd.

The Supreme Court has held tianrad again that the violation of a statutory right to receive
information one is entitled to receive createaoacrete injury sufficient to confer standing on a
plaintiff. Churchfalls right in line with tlose cases; it, too, conceraglaintiff who sought to
enforce a statutory disclosure requirement. Butdage is not one of those cases. Zia was not enti-
tled to receive any information from the l@rdants. Instead, he, like the plaintifffiniends of
Animals seeks to enforce a deadline, and thus his reliance on informational standing cases is mis-
placed.See, e.gFisher v. Enter. Holdings, IncNo. 15-0372, 2016 WL665899, at *4 (E.D. Mo.
Sept. 7, 2016) (distinguishin@hurchon these same groundsy;, e.g, Lane v. Bayview Loan
Servicing, LLC No. 15-10446, 2016 WL 3671467, at *3-4.IN Ill. July 11, 2016) (“The
information-access cases cited Byokeosuggest that, in this cadéhe plaintiff] has alleged a
sufficiently concrete injury because he alleges fthe defendant] denied him the right to infor-
mation due to him under the FDCPA.”).

Next, Zia attempts to rely dhalm Beach Golf Center-Bocaclnv. John G. Sarris, D.D.S.,
P.A, 781 F.3d 1245 (11th Cir. 2015), where the Elevé&ithuit held that a plaintiff had Article
lll standing to bring suit alleging a violation thfe Telephone Consumrotection Act (“TCPA”),

47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3), that arose from a “juri&X (an unsolicited one-page fax advertisement)
sent to the plaintiff by the defenalaIn particular, the court fourttiat the plaintiff had satisfied

the injury requirement “because it has sufferedracete and personalized injury in the form of

12



the occupation of its fax machimer the period of time required for the electronic transmission of
the data (which, in thisase was one minute)Palm Beach Golf Centei781 F.3d at 1251. The
court found support in the legalve history of thefCPA, which made cleahat the statute’s
“prohibition against sending unsolicited fax advertisements was intended to protect citizens from
the loss of the use of thidax machines dunig the transmissioaf fax data.”ld. at 1252 (citing
H.R. Rep. No. 102-317, at 1@991) (“FACSMILE ADVERTISING [] . .. Ths type of tele-
marketing is problematic [because] . . . it occupiesrecipient’s facsimile machine so that it is
unavailable for legitimate busiresessages while processing anidting the junk fax.”)). This
Court is unwillng to extend?alm Beach Golf Centeranalysis, which focused on the tangible
injury of the occupation of the plaintiff's faxachine under a completely different statutory
scheme, to govern the intangible injury thaa Alleges here pursuant to two New York state
statutes, merely because both cases involvelldged violation of a statutorily created right.
Finally, Zia argues that the Legislature’s “t@hpurpose” in enacting the amendments was
“to deter mortgagees from being untimely,” a purpibse he believes is reflected in the fact that
the statutes provide for escalatipgnalties. Pl.’s Opp’n at 18 n.12. Zia’s view, a violation of a
statute that grants the right to file suit to collstettutory damages elevates that right to a concrete
injury. Not so. Such an interpretation ditlg contradicts thexpress language &pokepwhich
this Court has already recited: “Congress’ ial@entifying and elevating intangible harms does
not mean that a plaintiff automatically satisfiee injury-in-fact requirement whenever a statute
grants a person a statutory right and purports twaae that person to sue to vindicate that right.”
136 S. Ct. at 1549.

The entitlement to statutodamages does not, on its ovamount to a concrete injuty.

2 Rather, such an alleipn serves to satisfy thedressability requirement of Article 1l standingee, e.gCuellar-

Aguilar v. Deggeller Attractions, Inc812 F.3d 614, 620-21 (8th Cir. 2015).

13



If a damages provisiowas all that was required to confer an injury in fact, the above language
from Spokeowvould be meaningless—anygislative body could make an end-run around the stric-
tures of Article Ill standing by siply including a damages prowsi in a statute. The Supreme
Court would not allow this and neither will this Cousee, e.g.Hollingsworth v. Perry133 S.
Ct. 2652, 2667 (2013) (explaining th§d]tates cannot alterthe limited role of the Federal Judi-
ciary under Article Il “smply by issuing to private partiegho otherwise laclstanding a ticket
to the federal courthouse”).
V. CONCLUSION

In sum, Zia has offered nothing to meet hisdeur to persuade this Court that his alleged
injury in concrete. His contentionahthe existence of the statutelahe fact of the violation itself
makes his alleged injury concrete is simply @abugh. The Court therefore concludes that Zia has
failed to allege the existence of a concrete, paai@dd injury in fact sufficient to establish stand-
ing under Article Ill. Accordingly, it is

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Defendants’ Motion to DismissGRANTED.
The Plaintiff's Complaint [ECF No. 1] iBISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE.

This action iSCLOSED and all other pending motions &2&NIED ASMOOT.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Floridthis 26th day of September, 2016.

vy A

DARRIN P. GAYLES
UNITED STATES DI CT JUDGE
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